IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILE: SID J. WHITE JUL 13 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 64,68 -Chief Deputy Olank

GERALD EUGENE STANO,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 1012 South Ridgewood Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32014-6183 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols will be used:

)

"R" - Record on Appeal.

"SRA" - Supplemental Record on Appeal filed May 21, 1984, consisting of transcripts of Appellant's statements.

"SRB" - Supplemental Record on Appeal filed June 1984, consisting of the evidence introduced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 3, 1983, the fall term of the 1982 Grand Jury for the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida for Brevard County, returned a first degree murder indictment charging Gerald Eugene Stano with the murder of Cathy Lee Scharf. (R 2213-2214) On September 1, 1983, the spring term of the 1983 Grand Jury of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida for Brevard County, returned an identical indictment. (R 2211-2212)

The appellant was brought to trial on the charge on September 26, 1983 to September 30, 1983 following which a mistrial was declared when the jury was unable to reach a unanimous verdict. (R 1314-1613)

Numerous pre-trial motions were filed by the appellant. These included a motion in limine regarding challenges for cause, a motion for change of venue, a request to waive jury for penalty phase and restrict death qualification of jury during voir dire, a motion to dismiss, a motion for discharge, a motion in limine, a motion for statement of aggravating circumstances, a motion for individual voir dire and sequestration of jurors, a motion to declare Florida's death penalty unconstitutional and a demand for discovery of penalty phase evidence. (R 2327-2328, 2331-2333, 2361-2362, 2368, 2372, 2374-2375, 2406-2413, 2442-2445, 2446-2449, 2454-2455, 2458-2459, 2460-2461)

Prior to the trial, Appellant withdrew his previously made motion for change of venue. (R 2294)

- 2 -

The state filed a motion to declare certain witnesses unavailable which, following a hearing, was denied as premature. (R 1615-1644) At a second hearing, the trial court granted the state's motion to compel testimony. (R 1765-1781) Immediately prior to the retrial, the court declared the witnesses unavailable and granted the state's motion to use their former testimony over defense objection. (R 12-26)

This cause proceeded to trial again on November 28 through December 2, 1983. (R 1)

During voir dire, the trial court limited the scope of examination over defense objection. (R 135-136, 156-157) The trial court also granted the state's challenge for cause as to juror Nattile over defense objection. (R 210-211)

During the trial, the court refused to allow Appellant to present certain evidence at either the guilt or the penalty phase. (R 393-395, 1258-1262, 1463-1467, 1470-1484, 1783-1817)

Appellant's objection to the qualification of Dr. Molina as an expert was overruled. (R 611-618) Likewise, Appellant's objection to Dr. Bass answering a question beyond the realm of his qualifications was also overruled. (R 684)

Appellant's objection to the method by which certain witnesses' testimony was presented at trial was also overruled. (R 696-702)

A taped statement of the appellant was played over defense objection. (R 977-999)

Following the close of the state's case-in-chief, Appellant moved to strike certain testimony which was denied.

- 3 -

(R 1004-1006) A motion for judgment of acquittal based upon the insufficient evidence of <u>corpus</u> <u>delicti</u> was also denied. (R 1007-1010)

Appellant proffered the testimony of Douglas Cheshire and Tom McCarthy but did not present this testimony to the jury. (R 1013-1030)

The motion for judgment of acquittal was renewed and denied. (R 1031)

During the consideration of written questions from the jury during deliberations, the appellant was absent. Trial counsel waived his presence. (R 1132-1134)

Following deliberation, the jury found the appellant guilty of first degree murder. (R 1136, 2259)

The penalty phase of the trial was held on December 5 through 6, 1983. (R 1141) Prior to its commencement, Appellant offered to stipulate to the aggravating circumstance involving prior convictions for violent felonies. The state and the court refused to accept this stipulation. (R 1145-1153)

Throughout the penalty phase, much evidence was introduced concerning the details of Appellant's other murder convictions. This was done over defense objection. (R 1171-1203)

Certified copies of Appellant's previous judgments and sentences for first degree murder were introduced over objection. (R 1168-1170)

- 4 ·

Two psychiatrists testified for the state during which Appellant objected to certain testimony. (R 1211-1212, 1242) These objections were overruled.

Appellant's objection to the trial court's instruction on the aggravating circumstance involving the fact that the murder was committed during the commission of a felony was overruled. (R 1253-1254) Appellant also objected to the applicability of the aggravating circumstance involving premeditation. (R 1255)

Appellant again offered certain proffered testimony at the penalty phase and was again rebuffed. (R 1258-1262)

The appellant testified in his own behalf at the penalty phase during which the defense objected to certain questioning on cross-examination. These objections were overruled. (R 1266, 1836-1837)

Following deliberation, the jury returned with a recommendation of 10-2 that Gerald Stano be sentenced to the ultimate sanction. (R 2248)

Appellant's motion for new trial was denied. (R 1305-1308)

The trial court sentenced Gerald Stano to death in the electric chair. In so doing, the trial court found four aggravating circumstances and rejected all mitigating evidence. (R 1309-1311, 2230-2236)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

On January 19, 1974, Dennis Farrell was hunting wild hogs with his friend Alexander Myers near Hallover Canal in Brevard County, Florida. (R 653-654) The pair were deep into thick woods when they smelled the odor of something that had died. (R 656-657) Shortly thereafter, they observed a body covered with palmettos on the other side of a ditch. (R 657) They got to within 15 feet of the body before they got back into their jeep and drove to the canaltender to whom they reported their find. (R 658-659) A deputy arrived and they took him to the scene. (R 660)

Investigator Steven Kendrick of the Brevard County Sheriff's Department, reported to the site where the body had (R 750-755) It was covered with 8-9 palmfronds been found. which Investigator Kendrick did not examine to determine if they had been cut or broken. (R 758, 791-792) The body was in the canal from the waist down. (R 793) Investigator Kendrick recovered two rings that day which were located on the left hand of the body. (R 762) Approximately one week later he found another ring which was buried in the mud approximately three feet below the head of the body. (R 763-766) The body was clothed in a tank top shirt with red blouse which had yellow stripes. She wore blue jeans but no shoes. (R 622) Two empty .22 casings were found approximately seventeen and twenty feet respectively from the body. These were on the other side of the canal. (R 781-782) The casings were from an automatic weapon. (R 782) No

- 6 -

spent bullets were found in the area. (R 786) Investigator Kendrick took approximately 50-60 color photographs of the area which were missing at the time of trial. (R 791)

Raul G. Molina, M. D., was the assistant medical examiner who performed the autopsy on the body. (R 611-620) Due to the extreme amount of decomposition, Dr. Molina was unable to determine the cause of death. (R 621) He identified the victim as a Caucasian female, approximately twenty years old, five feet two inches tall and one hundred and ten pounds. (R 623) He estimated that the body had been in the woods for approximately four to eight weeks. (R 623) The skin from the upper torso was gone as was that from the left side of the head and neck. (R Dr. Molina was able to rule out large trauma to the skull, 624) face, neck or body due to the absence of fractures. (R 624) Dr. Molina was unable to rule out stabbing, natural death, drug overdose, heart attack, cancer, brain tumor, pneumonia, asthma or thousands of other illnesses as the cause of death. (R 625, 635-637) The area surrounding the body was stained by a brownish spot which could have possibly been blood. (R 626) A sample of this was collected and turned over to the police for lab analysis. (R 632) The state never introduced any evidence of these test results. Dr. Molina found no bone chipping in the rib cage which would have been consistent with stabbing. (R 634-635) Three upper central front teeth were missing from the skull. These were probably missing after death in the opinion of Dr. (R 642-643) Molina.

- 7 -

Cathy Lee Scharf was last seen by her mother on December 14, 1973. (R 723-727) Cathy had dinner at home that night and her mother was aware that she had plans to go out that evening with some friends. (R 728-729) Cathy left the house that night around 7:00 with Debbie Harris. (R 729) She had on a multi-colored blouse with blue jeans and black shoes and was carrying a purse. (R 731) Cathy was approximately five feet five inches tall and weighed one hundred and fifteen pounds with medium-length blond hair. (R 731)

Charles Evans, a neighbor of the Scharfs, saw Cathy on December 15, 1973, at approximately 9:00 a.m. in the vicinity of the Port Orange Recreation center. She was walking alone in a southerly direction on U.S. 1 wearing jeans and a short coat. (R 804-806) When Cathy Scharf failed to report to work on December 14, her parents waited until the 15th or 16th of December to report her disappearance to the Port Orange Police. (R 744)

Several months following her disappearance, two small boys who were fishing between Port Orange and New Smyrna Beach found a wallet which they turned over to Lawrence Silvia. (R 686-689) Using the identification contained in the wallet, Mr. Silvia called Edith Scharf who came and retrieved the wallet from him. (R 690) This wallet was identified as belonging to Cathy Scharf. (R 734) Mrs. Scharf turned it over to the Port Orange Police. (R 734-735)

Inspector S. R. Dewitt, Jr. of the Brevard County Sheriff's Department, took the skull found at the scene to the office of Dr. Stanton Bass in Dade County. (R 677, 811-815) Dr.

- 8 -

Bass is a dentist who was qualified as an expert witness in dentistry and the identification of teeth and fillings. (R 666, 669) Dr. Bass was the dentist of Cathy Scharf as well as her parents. (R 669) Dr. Bass had last seen Cathy as a patient in 1967 when she was ten years old. (R 679-680, 682)

Upon his initial examination of the skull, Dr. Bass found that there were five amalgam restorations on the first four The filling work appeared to be of permanent molars. (R 678) the same technique that Dr. Bass employed in an amalgam restora-(R 678) He was unable to say with certainty that it was tion. definitely his work. (R 681-682) Upon a comparison with the teeth of the skull with that of the dental chart of Cathy Scharf, Dr. Bass concluded that the restoration on the four first permanent molars of the skull corresponded exactly with the restorations indicated on the chart. (R 679) The teeth of the skull had no other dental work on any of the other teeth. (R 679-680, 682) Upon her last visit to Dr. Bass, Cathy Scharf still had twelve deciduous teeth (baby teeth). The skull that Dr. Bass examined had no deciduous teeth. (R 683) Over defense objection, Dr. Bass was permitted to testify that there was no doubt in his mind that the skull was that of Cathy Scharf. (R 684)

On March 6, 1981, Sergeant Paul Crow of the Daytona Beach Police Department met with the appellant and advised him of his constitutional rights. The appellant agreed to talk to Sergeant Crow. (R 865-868) The appellant stated that in the early 1970's he picked up a young white female hitchhiking in

- 9 -

Port Orange off of U.S. 1. He took her to a skating rink on Nova Road but they did not stop. He drove south on Nova Road back to U.S. 1 and continued in a southerly direction toward the Titusville/Merritt Island area. They stopped briefly at a small park by the river on the way. He described the girl in her early teens, wearing a multi-colored shirt, a wrangler jean jacket and blue jeans. He also stated that she was wearing a ring or some type of jewelry. While they were headed toward the Merritt Island Skating Rink on AlA, the couple argued and the appellant either stabbed her in the chest or shot her. He was unable to remember exactly which method was employed. He took her body from the car to a small pond which had little or no water in it. He covered her body with small palmfronds and left. (R 869-870) On August 11, 1982, Johnny Manis, a homocide investigator with the Deputy Sheriff's Office interviewed Gerald Stano. (R 967-968) Stano advised Manis that he had picked up a young lady on U.S. 1 in 1973 around the holiday Christmas season. (R 996) During the drive, Stano stated that he was half intoxicated. (R 989)

Stano admitted that he drank a six-pack on weekdays. On weekends, he usually consumed two to three cases of beer which he would frequently chase with Jack Daniels Whiskey. (R 998)

During the ride, she got "mouthy" and he hit her in order to keep her quiet. He also advised her that he would kill her. He turned off of AlA and drove to the back of an orange grove. She attempted to run from him and he stabbed her several times. (R 973) He stabbed her when she tried to exit the car.

- 10 -

She was unable to unlock her car door when he put a wrist lock on her and stabbed her. (R 474) He carried her body and put it on the canal bank. (R 973) He described the girl as having blondish-brown hair, wearing a multi-colored blouse and carrying a clutch purse. She wore Indian type jewelry. (R 973-974) He probably threw her purse out of the car on the way back to Daytona Beach. In Daytona Beach, he went to the Starlite Skate Center and roller skated. (R 474) These two statements were the only evidence that the state presented at the first trial concerning the details of the actual murder. (R 1847-2205)

However, by the time of retrial, the state had secured Clarence Albert Zacke as a state witness. (R 887) His residence was the Brevard County Jail and he had been sentenced to state prison. Zacke had five felony convictions and five sixty year concurrent sentences. He met Gerald Stano in jail. (R 888) In August of 1983, Stano and Zacke were in the exercise yard when they discussed Stano's case. According to Clarence Zacke, Gerald Stano told him that he picked up the victim while she was hitchhiking on a highway. She wanted to go to the beach and he took her to some woods in Merritt Island. He turned off the main road. When she questioned him, he told her that it was time for her to pay for her way by engaging in sex. The couple argued and the appellant attempted to kiss her. She fought and told him that he was repulsive. He hit her, opened her car door and kicked her out of the car. He got out and beat her while she was on the ground. He then stabbed her a few times though not very deeply. Zacke testified that the appellant told him that he then choked her. He explained to Zacke that he then choked her until she passed out whereupon he would stop until she revived. This process was repeated several times according to Zacke. Zacke testified that the appellant told him that the victim requested that he stop. (R 893-895) Zacke stated that the appellant killed the girl by stabbing and choking her. He then dragged her body a short distance and covered it with palmfronds. (R 896)

Clarence Zacke's testimony was substantially impeached on cross-examination. He knew Gerald Stano in Florida State Prison back in January of 1983. There, they once talked face to face for approximately ten minutes. They also talked on two other occasions at the prison. Zacke admitted that he had previously been under five consecutive sixty year sentences rather than concurrent sentences. He admitted that he had traded testimony in a murder case for a reduction in his sentence. (R Zacke had previously had a presumptive parole release 905-906) date of 1999. At the time of trial, Zacke was of the opinion that he would be released in 1985. (R 925-927) In exchange for his testimony against Mr. Stano, the state had promised to return a confiscated pickup truck and help Zacke in his attempt to transfer from Florida State Prison to a different institution (preferably Cross City Prison). At the time of trial, the truck had already been returned to Sherry Zacke. Zacke placed a \$6,000.00 value on the truck. (R 907) Zacke had every reason to believe that the state would accomplish his transfer to the preferred prison. He had listed five prisons in the order of

- 12 -

preference. (R 907-908) At the time of trial, the state had requested the transfer. Zacke had seen the letter that the prosecutor had written to Louie Wainwright. (R 909)

Although Zacke had the information to which he testified prior to the first trial, he waited because he thought that the state had a strong case against Mr. Stano. When the first trial ended in a mistrial, he knew that their case was not strong. He then contacted the state through his attorney and offered to help. (R 910-913)

Although it was not presented to the jury, the defense proffered the testimony of Douglas Cheshire, the State Attorney of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit. (R 1013-1026) Mr. Cheshire's knowledge of Clarence Zacke's reputation for truth and veracity in the community was based solely on conversations with his staff arising from criminal investigations. (R 1023-1026) Appellant also proffered the testimony of Tom McCarthy, the Police Chief of Satellite Beach. Prior to that employment, he had been a policeman with the city of Eau Gallie and the city of Melbourne. He had known Clarence Zacke for ten to fifteen years and testified that his reputation for truth and veracity in Melbourne was extremely bad. (R 1028-1029)

- 13 -

PENALTY PHASE

The extensive and thorough psychological report and tests on Gerald Stano by Dr. Ann McMillan was stipulated into evidence. (R 1265) Dr. McMillan's in depth probe of Gerald Stano's early childhood revealed the nature of his problem. He was taken away from his natural mother at the age of six months by the New York Child and Welfare Department due to extreme neglect. At the time, he was malnourished and functioning at an animalistic level. Once Gerald's adoptive parents had him for six months, they returned to New York to finalize the adoption. As part of this process, Gerald was examined by a team composed of a psychiatric social worker, a nurse, a physician, a psychologist and a psychiatrist. Following this examination, the team concluded that at the age of thirteen months, Gerald was "unadoptable". Throughout his childhood and adolescence as well as his adult life, Gerald had extensive problems coping in society. According to Dr. McMillan, this early neglect in Gerald's life was the root of his mental health problems which led to the murders. One could conclude from Dr. McMillan's report that it was her opinion within a reasonable medical probability that Stano had committed the murder while under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. It could also be concluded that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired at the time of the crime. (SRB 92-103)

The state presented copies of six certified judgments and sentences dealing with Stano's convictions for first degree

- 14 -

murder. (R 1154-1170) The state also introduced detailed testimony and evidence concerning Stano's conviction for the murder of Mary Carol Maher in Volusia County. (R 1171-1192) The state also presented similar detailed evidence regarding his convictions for the murders of Ann Arceneaux and Janine Ligotino in Alachua County. (R 1192-1203)

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