IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD EUGENE STANO,)	
Appellant,)	**************************************
VS.) Case No. 64, 687	FILED
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	SID J. WHITE
Appellee.)	SEP 5 1984
		CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENIH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

W. BRIAN BAYLY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida (904) 252-2005 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE.

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

The victim was last seen on December 15, 1973 on U.S. route 1 heading south toward Marko's Restaraunt (R. 805-809). Appellant stated that he picked the victim up on U.S. route 1 in the Port Orange area (R 866). He also confirmed that this happened around a holiday; sometime in November, December, or January 1 (R 997).

In light of the overwhelming similarities between the confession and the actual circumstances of the homicide the evidence in the proffer certainly would have made no difference whatsoever.

PENALTY PHASE

Appellant also contends that the proffered evidence of Dr. Fernando, Stern and Detective James Kappell should have been allowed during the sentencing stage. As discussed <u>supra</u>, Dr. Stern had no personal knowledge of the case at bar and could not say if Appellant was the type to confess falsely or not. In any event Dr. Stern's testimony was not proffered for the penalty phase and therefore has not been preserved for appeal.

Dr. George Bernard, testifying at the penalty phase on behalf of the state, did maintain that the Appellant had anti-social traits which included lying. He maintained that lying was part of the characterlogical problem that was present in Appellant (R 1247,1249). The Appellant represented the report of Dr. Ann McMillin in mitigation at the penalty phase. She also confirmed that Appellant's history of lying and that this character was part of his abnormal personality. (SRB 93-94,95). Stern's or Kappel's testimony would have added nothing to what the experts had already testified about.

Section 921.141(1) states:

...evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems relevant to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant...

Certainly the evidence proffered by Appellant cannot be relevant to the nature of the crime because it is collateral. Likewise it is not relevant to the character of Appellant or if it is it shows only that he has lied and attempted to thwart law enforcement officers in their investigations of crimes. This evidence could hardly be relevant to any mitigating evidence.

Appellant cites the case of <u>Tofero v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 89,95 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) to support his proposition. <u>Tofero</u> is distinguishable because the defendant was attempting to introduce evidence that would mitigate a past crime used as an aggravating factor in this sentence. The evidence proffered by Appellant would certainly not mitigate any of his past crimes but would in all likelihood be more of an aggravating circumstance.

Appellant also relies on Perry v. State, 395 So. 2d 170, 172 174 (Fla. 1981). In Perry the trial court at the penalty phase excluded defendant's mother's testimony. She would have testified regarding the defendant's background and upbringing. This court held that it was error because a defendant should not be precluded from offering as a mitigating factor any aspect of his character. Again, Appellee submits that the confession to a collateral crime is not a mitigating factor relating to his character. This evidence could not logically be considered to justify a reduction of a death sentence to life in prisonment.

Even if this evidence could be considered a non-statutory mitigating circumstance which should have been admitted, its preclusion

was harmless error. In <u>Goode v. Wainwright</u>, 704 F.2d 593 (11th Cir. court of appeal 1983), rehearing denied 709 F.2d 716 the defendant claimed that the instruction to the jury in a penalty phase were erroneous because the instructions limited the jury to just statutory mitigating factors.

<u>Goode</u> attempted to introduce non-statutory mitigating evidence to the effect that he was cooperative with the police and the prosecution. The Eleventh Circuit held that Goode failed to show prejudice and therefore the error was held harmless. The Eleventh Circuit also cited the case of <u>Ford v. Strickland</u>, 696 F.2d 804,812 (11th Cir. 1982) which found that the preclusion of non-mitigating factors was harmless error where the defendant in <u>Ford</u> wanted to emphasize his beligerant and alcoholic father, and his assumption of parental duties and support of his family.

In <u>Washington v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978) this Honorable Court held that the trial court was in error by not considering in mitigation that the defendant surrendered to the police. But like the Eleventh Circuit, this Honorable Court held that the error was harmless and that some of the mitigating aspects of this tendered evidence were speculative. In light of the other aggravating circumstances the death penalty in <u>Washington</u> was affirmed. Likewise, in the case at bar where the trial court has found four aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances (R 1309,1311, 2230-2236,) the error, if any, in not allowing this type of evidence to be heard by the jury in the penalty phase would certainly be harmless.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE THE TESTIMONY OF THE VICTIM'S PARENTS FROM THE FIRST TRIAL TO BE READ TO THE JURY AT THE SECOND TRIAL.

A. FAILURE TO PRESERVE

On November 3, 1983 the state filed a motion to compel the testimony of the victim's parents (R 1675). The parents maintained that they were so upset that under no circumstances would they testify. They stated that they would be in contempt of court rather than testify. The parents maintained that they would persist in refusing to testify in spite of fines or imprisonment. It was revealed that Mrs. Scharf was under medication and both were emotionally upset from the trauma of the trial. (R 1766-1778). The defense joined in the motion to compel their testimony and the motion was granted (R 1778).

On November 14, 1983 the state filed a motion to declare the parents unavailable (R 1615). Again the parents reiterated that they were adamant in not testifying under any circumstances and no sanctions would deter them from their decisions (R 1617-1639). At this point in time the defense made three objections to the motion: (1). The witnesses should be confronted at the time of trial; (2). The witnesses should be exhorted to testify short of having to put them in jail or impose a bond upon them; and (3). The court should not declare them unavailable based upon an anticipatory refusal. The court denied the motion as premature. (R 1639-1640).

On the day the trial was to commence the state renewed their motion to have the parents declared unavailable as witnesses (R 1). The parents refused again, to testify (R 1-23). The court addressed the fol-

lowing comment to the defense attorney after hearing the parents' refusals:

...in regard to these witnesses is there anything different in the trial posture of this proceeding from the prior proceedings?...the state has listed some additional witnesses,...the additional witnesses would have no impact on the Scharfs' prior testimony. But I'd like your comments on that if you have any. (R 25-26).

Defense counsel replied:

We choose not to disclose any at this time, judge. (R 26).

Defense counsel offered no objection to the admission of the parent's transcript from the first trial during the judgment of acquittal argument (R 1007-1010). Prior to the statements being admitted at trial defense counsel's only objection relating to the substance of the testimony was "for those objections already noted..." (R 697). The only objections already noted pertained to the November 14, 1983 motion to declare the parents unavailable (which was denied as premature). (R 1639-1640). These objections simply stated that the motion of November 14, 1983 was premature. No objections were interposed by defense counsel for the motion to have the parents declared unavailable on the day of trial (November 28, 1983) (R 26). In fact at this pre-trial hearing of November 28, 1983 the court specifically asked defense counsel if there would be anything different in the trial posture regarding the parents' testimony, to which defense counsel replied that it did not wish to disclose any information at that time (R 25-26). Subsequent to the comment defense counsel never imposed any specific objection to admitting the testimony at trial nor did he disclose any reason for prejudice. Given the limited testimony of the parents, there was no prejudice in admitting their prior

transcripts but in any event the defense counsel did not impose any <u>trial</u> objection nor disclose any possible prejudice to his client by having these transcripts admitted.

In McGriff v. State 232 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970) defense counsel failed to object to a father identifying the body as his son in a murder trial. In Simpson v. State, 211 So. 2d 862, 867 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968) a defense counsel failed to object to the admission of a confession because the written statement had not been read to the defendant nor had the defendant adopted it. In Migliore v. United States, 409 F. 2d 786, 788 (5th Court of Appeals 1969) where two co-defendants were convicted of selling narcotics a defense counsel failed to object to the statement of a co-defendant implicating or prejudicial to his client. In all three cases the points on appeal were raised for the first time. In all three cases and in the case at bar, there has been a failure to preserve the objection below and therefore there is no appeal remedy. Given the limited testimony of the parent and the fact that there is no conceivable prejudice to the Appellant, in the case at bar, any alleged error would not be fundamental.

B. MERITS

Appellant maintained that the witnesses should have been called at trial before they were declared unavailable (See, Appellant's initial brief at page 29). The second motion to declare the witnesses unavailable occurred on the day of trial, right before the jury was to be chosen (R 1-26). Appellee submits that it would make no difference whether the parents refused to testify right before proceedings or whether they were called after the jury had been impaneled. In <u>United States v. Zappola</u>, 646 F.2d 48, 54 (2d Court of Appeals 1981) the court held that the pro-

per procedure under the evidentiary rule to declare a witness unavailable should include an issuance of an order, outside the presence of the jury directing the witness to testify. In the case at bar this is the procedure that was followed. Since this procedure needs to be done outside of the presence of the jury it should make no difference whatsoever whether this procedure happens right before the jury is picked or right after the jury is picked; the time element is inconsequential.

Appellant also argues that the judge should have exercised his discretion by imposing a fine or sentence against the recalcitrant witnesses. (See, Appellant's initial brief at page 30). The motion to declare the parents unavailable on November 14, 1983 defense counsel specifically stated that he did not want the court to have the parents put in jail nor to have the court impose a bond upon them (R 1638). Although this suggestion was specifically waived by defense counsel below, Appellee submits that this is not required under § 90.804(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1981). In Zappola, supra the second procedure needed to declare a witness unavailable was that a warning that continued refusal to testify despite the court's order would be punishible by contempt. It should be noted that § 90.804(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1981) has the identical language of and is based upon Fed. R. Evid. 804(a)(2). Neither the statute nor the rule nor the holding of Zappola require that the trial court actually impose the sanctions before declaring a witness unavailable. In United States v. Bizzard, 674 F.2d 1382, 1387 (1982) the government was allowed to use a transcript of a witness from a first trial. The record showed the court's conversation with the witness in an out of jury hearing at the second trial. The court held the record was sufficient to meet the order requirement of Fed. R. Evid. 804(a)(2). The facts in the case at

bar are analogous to Bizzard and as such no error was committed.

In Outlaw v. State, 269 So.2d 403 (Fla.4th DCA 1972) the review court held that the responsibility for evaluating the adequacy of a showing of non-availability rest with the trial judge and that his determination would not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion clearly appears. id at 404. When the court made the determination that the parents were unavailable right before the trial the court noted that it had observed the parents and their demeanor and emotional state. The court explained that these observations could not be readily apparent to anappellate court. (R26) It is this type of discretion that rest with the trial court and should not be disturbed upon review.

Appellant cites <u>United States v. Johnson</u>, ___ F.2d ___ (6th Court of Appeal 1984 35 Crl. 2226) to support his contention. This case is not apropos since it merely construes the federal statute regarding holding a witness in contempt prior to trial. The case focuses on the rights of the witness; not on the defendant being tried. There was no discussion of the issue of whether a trial court had abused his discretion by not actually imposing a fine or incarceration upon a witness that refused to testify.

C. HARMLESS ERROR

The parents' testimony at the first trial consisted of their relationship to the victim, when they last saw the victim, identifying the dentist of the victim, and identifying certain jewlery found on the victim at the murder scene (R 2123-2159). When asked by the trial court what impact the admission of the parents' testimony from the first trial would have on his defense, defense attorney replied that he did not wish to disclose any impact (R 26). Defense counsel never did and never could

show any prejudice. In view of the other overwhelming evidence and in view of the lack of significance of the parents' testimony, any admission of the transcripts would be harmless error. Appellee would note that their is an identity of issues, parties, and even the same defense attorney. In McClain v. State, 411 So.2d 316 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) the defendant argued that a witness should not have been declared unavailable where his non-appearance at trial was due to his wife's illness. Even though this was error the review court held it was harmless error since the sole issue was identity and this witness's testimony did not relate to that issue. Therefore the conviction was affirmed. In Simpson, supra it was held that any alleged error regarding the admission of a confession would be harmless since there was other sufficient, competent evidence to sustain the finding of guilt. Under the circumstances in the case at bar any alleged error would certainly be harmless.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN OVER-RULING APPELLANT'S OBJECTION TO THE TESTIMONY OF AN EXPERT BECAUSE AN EXPERT MAY TESTIFY TO AN ULTIMATE ISSUE AND THE ISSUE HAS NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

PRESERVATION

Appellant maintains that the trial court committed error by permitting Dr. Bass (who was tendered as an expert in dentistry and accepted by Appellant without objection (R 668-669) to testify to an ultimate conclusion, i.e. the skull of the victim was that of Kathy Scharf. (See Appellant's initial brief at page 35). The defense counsel for trial objected to the following question:

Dr. Bass, Do you have an opinion, sir, with -- whether or not the teeth in the mandible and the skull were those of Kathy Scharf? (R 684).

At this point the defense counsel objected that Dr. Bass had been qualified as an expert in dentistry but not in <u>forensic</u> denistry (R 684). Then Dr. Bass answered, "There is no doubt in my mind that the skull is that of Kathy Scharf. (R 684). No objection was interposed to this answer.

Appellee submits that the objection interposed by the defense counsel below to the question is not the same objection that has been argued by Appellant in the brief pursuant to Dr. Bass' testimony regarding the ultimate conclusion that the skull of the victim was that of Kathy Scharf. Additionally the objection interposed by defense counsel below does not specifically state that the answer of Dr. Bass was an issue beyond his expertise. Rather the defense counsel below stipulated or did not object to Dr. Bass testifying as an expert in dentistry and identification of teeth (R 668-669).

In <u>North v. State</u>, 65 So.2d 77, 82 (Fla. 1952), in a first degree murder conviction, this Honorable Court held that Appellant was confined to the specific objection to the introduction of evidence made below and any other grounds argued for the first time on appeal would not be considered. Likewise in the case at bar because the objection pertained to the question propounded to Dr. Bass and not his answer and because the issue argued on appeal is different from that objection below the issue should not be considered for review.

MERITS

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